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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

PEOPLE FIRST OF TENNESSEE, : FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
on behalf of its members, : CLASS ACTION--
: No. 3:95-1227
BONNIE CHAFFEE, by her next friend, : Judge Echols
Crystal Goodman, : Magistrate Haynes

DOWELL HARRIS, by his next friend,

T e

SANDRA JO PROCTOR, by her next
friend, Evelyn McCormack,

CYNTHIA DAWN SOMMERVILLE,
a minor, by her parents
and natural guardians,
Jeft and Kathy Sommerville,

KEVIN TROUPE, by his next friend,
Charles Hall,

JUANITA WRIGHT, by her next
friend, William A. Goodman, Jr.,

MARY ANN AVERY, by her next
friend, Jason Elam,

AUDRINIECE HOLLISTER, by her next :
friend, Ethyl Ervie, :

KENNETH LEE, by his parent

and natural guardian,
Diane Lee,

EDDIE JONES, by his next friend,
John Kenningion,

LARRY WAYNE VAIIGHN, by his next :



friend, Andy Devoti,

CHARLES WILHOITE, by his next
friend, James Turner,

CAROLYN BRITT, by her next friend,
Jane Humphrey,

REBECCA WORKMAN, by her next
friend, Rebecca Smith,

JENNY BELLE GREENWOOD, by her
next friend, Patricia Hornick,

DAVID BALTHROP, by his next friend,
Rex Stephens,

TERRY BEATY, by his next friend,
Edward Sewell, on behalf of
themselves and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

THE CLOVER BOTTOM
DEVELOPMENTAL CENTER,

THE GREENE VALLEY
DEVELOPMENTAL CENTER

THE NAT T. WINSTON
DEVELOPMENTAL CENTER

DON SUNDQUIST, in his official
capacity as Governor of
the State of Tennessee,

O. STEVEN ROTH,in his
official capacity as
Superintendent of the
Clover Bottom Developmental
Center, -



i
01 {ﬂ& k”"\) ne ‘\-()11‘;\.‘3-
Developmental Center,

PETE DAVIDSON, in his otficial
capacity as Superintendent
of the Nat T. Winston
Developmental Center,

THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT
OF MENTAL HEALTH AND
MENTAL RETARDATION,

BEN DISHMAN. 11 his
official capacity as
Acting Commissioner of Mental
Health and Mental
Retardation,

THOMAS SULL XN

in his official capacity as
Assistant C unissioner i(

Mental Retam:—mon.

THE TENNESSELE DEPARTMENT OF

FINANCE AND
ADMINISTRATION

JOHN FERGH
i his ¢

\ mmissioner of
Finance and Administration.

THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT
L'TH

ol



)

P

Wi
Conn
G

aint

Pla

b,

-







anniversary of

of Tennessee attended the 3rd International Peonle

People First's training program on self-determination was published in

Stanfield Publishing Co., a nationally recognized distributor of special education

programs.

[,
[,

The name "People First” was conceived by the members of People First

International, which was founded in 1974 by residents of the Fairview Traiming Center, a state
institution for persons with retardation in Oregon. In discussing the selection of a name, one of
the members said, "Why not cali ourselves People First, because we want to be known as people
before we're known for our handicap?" After that, People First organizations were formed i
many other states. including Tennessee. All share the common purpose of supporting their
members’ right to speak for themselves, to make their own decisions, and to know and exercise

their rights as citizens, including their right to live in the community.

12. People First has many members who live at all three defendant devel
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centers. Beginning tn 1984, members of the local Nashville chapter decided to conduct outreach
to individuals residing at Clover Bottom. Since that time many individuals from Clover Bottom.
Greene Valley and Nat T. Winston have become People First members and have attended local
meetings. Members who reside at Clover Bottom Developmental Center have attended public
hearings on efforts to limit the size of residential programs. They have been elected to local
chapter leadership positions and one individual has served on the organizaton’s board of

directors in the past.

.
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persons who do not have his behavioral disabilities.

22, EFFIE ESTELLE PIPPIN will be 44 vears old on December 23

at Clover Bottom for nearly twenty years. She lives in Magnolia. Her parents ¢

has @ brother who does not visit or send cards or letters, and a sister who has only limited
contact with her. She attended public school tor a time but left while she

vy lprwe
€ 1O ieave ¢

pin 18 capable and articulate and states that she would

Bottom and move to her own apartment. She 1s an acuve member of People First of Te

d support she could castly work at a real job and use public transportation. She

moderately retarded. She has hemiplegia and has some diftig

t risk of falhing and injuring herself. In the last vear she has |

i

She has been denied adequate dental care at Clover Botton

t frequently by other Clover Bottom residents. /

bserved to have bruises that Clover Bottom staft could not

meefings, sne has heen o

explain. She has also been the recipient of forced sexual attention at Clover Bottom.

25. In the past. Ms. Pippin has been placed mn group homes in

approach to community services did not meet her individual needs.

detendants” ¢

10



services i the community, she |

27. SANDRA JO PROCTOR is 46 ve

than twenty years. She lives in Harrison Hall, a large building composed of se

which twelve to fifteen people share living space and bathroom facilities. Until recently bs,

-+

Proctor hardly ever [eft her building: even now, she spends most of her time on the unit.

28. 28. Ms. Proctor does not speak but understands others when they speak to her. She can

walk, feed herself and make known her choices and preferences. She has been labelied severe

d profoundly retarded.

29, Ms. Proctor is not receiving adequate habilitation at Clover Bottom. She does not

have access to meaningful activities, vocational training, or the opportunity to |
skills in the natural environments where those skills are practiced. She lives i a barren ward
with stark, institutional furniture, a television blaring for most of the day, and little else to do.
. Ms. Proctor has been denied community placement because of challenging behavior.

With proper support and training, however, she could learn how to act appropriately in

(—T:

community, where she could also receive much richer and more meaningful habilitative servi

However, the staft support she needs would cost more than the defendants’ cost ceiling under

ay--is significantly less than the

I. Sandra Jo Proctor experiences, on a daily basis, the harmful and unlawtul conditions

o
[omy
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Human Services and "Our Kids." a program

Fhe hospital was unable to confirm o

mother had found bruises on her lower back and dried blood on her inner thighs when visiting

Sommerville was again

o
on
(8%
L
—
o
o

At that time, a report

Sommerville was the victim of an assault and battery by

at Clover Bottom. She was found with severe bruise

. The injury was not reported to Ms. Sommerville's mother

some time between 8 and 10 PM, Cynthia Sommerville was

ed at 8 PM, staff noticed no bruises. At [U PM. a staft

ed. noticed that the covers needed adjusting, and found

n(_l a h..u\ } \’&E“.dx

i3



Hospital. The nurse calied Kathy Sommerville and

i . <

possibility that "something had happened

Hospital staff that Cynthia had a copious white and vellow vaginal discha

despite having been bathed only a few hours before, and fresh bruising. However, between the
time the injuries were discovered and the time Cynthia arrived at the infirmary, sta{f must have
cleaned her up to eliminate signs of sexual abuse because the physician on duty found no

discharge. The mstitution found that several violations of procedure had occurred urin

r[r~
.
.
v
—
oy
=
-
u

the injuries would have to have occurred and that staff were not working in their assigned

‘f“

places. Clover Bottom staff concluded that the injuries were either "self-inflicted" or caused by

s

someone else. General Hospital expressed concern that there was no explanation for the bruss

or i’i‘SCf‘x?T

. Cynthia Sommerville has experienced, on a daily basis, the harmful and unlawtul

conditions described in paragraphs 128-249 below. Because defendants limited their community
services to persons who do not have her significant and multiple disabilities, she had no
1 =3

alternative to Clover Bottom until after this case was filed.
41. KEVIN TROUPE is a young man in his 20s who came to Clover Bottom at the age

of twelve. He lives in the Spruce building, where he is inappropriately congregated with "lower-

& &

functioning” men with challenging behavior. He was imitially admitted to Clover Bottom for

o &

short-term respite and was institutionalized there permanently because of defendants’ tatlure to

imake services available in the community for persons with his behavioral disabilities.
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community.

permitted to get a housecleaning jot

work in an assembly-line type wc¢ h s demed the transiional services and
vocational rehabilitation necessary for him to become a productive member of society.

61. Kenneth has been i

and a statement in Ken's behavior plan that only "time out” will be used if physical aggression
OCCUTS Or appears imminent.

62. Kenneth experiences. on a daily basis, the harmful and unlawful conditions described

in paragraphs 128-249 below. Beca - to provide individualized services

in the community, T. Winston.

63. EDDILE

nstitutionalized at Greene Valley

\

for approximately 34 vears. He lives in the Newel Building with other men who are considered

residents with behavior problems. considers that Eddie 1s a good candidate for a

»a juvenile court because of hyperactivity and

~retarded and are not imvoelved with

3

ced to spend most of his life in an

chitis 2 times,
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with Buspar, Paxil.

78. Carolyn is an
She 1is able to inttiate conversation and

c

independently. She is unhappy at Greene Va

home in the community. Carolyn is a member of People irst.
79. Carolyn is denied the transitional services and vocational rehabilitation necessary for
her to become a productive member of society.

80. Carolyn has no contact with her mother or tather and lost contact with her brother

several years ago. All attempts to locate her brother have not been successtul. Carolyn has no

11
il
i

opportunity for interaction with non-disabled peers and spends all of her time on Greene Val

T

grounds.

y1. Carolyn experiences, on a daily basis, the harmtul and unfawful conditions
in paragraphs 128-249 below.

82. REBECCA WORKMAN 1s a2 22 year old woman who has been institutionalized at
Greene Valley for nearly 6 years. She lives in the Laurel building. Rebecca has been diagnosed
as having moderate mental retardation, disorder of impulse control and depression.  She is
currently medicated with Paxil to control her depression.

83. Rebecca is a member of People First. She i1s ambulatory and verbal and attends the

~y 5

special education program ABC at Doak School in Tusculum. She will be graduating this year

and is currently deciding whether or not she will attend the graduation party. Rebecca does not

attend any regular education classes.
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T 1 decisions regarding what to

their home care providers will be.  David and ’
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arrangement and cringe at the

& =

to Nat T. Winston or anvy other siumtlar

msttution.
97. David and Terry both work tfive days a week at Hilltoppers, Inc.. a

o

workshop designed for people with disabilities located in Crossville, Tennessee.

have limited interaction with non-disabled peers, they have the option to pursue such interactions

when they are not working at Hilltoppers

98. David and Terry have both experienced 1
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ribed in paragraphs 128-249 below.

Class Action Allesations

persons who presently reside or will reside

e
S

opmental Center, including the Harold Jordan Center. Greene

Center or Nat T. Winston Developmental Center and all persons who have

i there since December 22, 1992,
he members of the class have all been dented rights under federal faw as a result
of the actions, inactions, policies, and practices of defendants. Plaintiffs seek for tl
and for all members of the class declaratory and injunctive rehefl to

V-2
i



policies and practices and to require d

arbitrarily deny to plaintifts and th

i

b

[01. There are substantial que

the following questions

A v b 1; ot five pied e ome Aallaamd horsin'?
(a) Are the condit ions at the def ental conters as alleged heremn’

(b) Does plaintifts’ segregation at the defendant developmental

t

among other rights, plaintiffs’ right to: the equal protection of the laws: habilitation in the least

separate, most integrated community setting: freedom of association: freedom of expression: the

o]

right to participate in public services and programs and activitics receiving federal assistance

&

regardless of the severity of plamufifs™ disabilities?

(¢c) Do the defendants have an obligation under the Constitution and the laws of

1 1os

the United States to provide necessary services to plaintifts and the class v the least separate,
most integrated community setting?

(by Have defendants subjected residents of the defendant developmental centers
to abuse and neglect and unnecessary physical and chemical restraint, and deprived the residents
ter, medical care, and habilitation?

of adeguate tood, clothing. shel

consistently and aggressively implemented program of training, treatment, and other services o

3

cach developmental center resident to enable him or her to function with the greatest self-

. [

102, The claims of the plaintiffs are typical of the class. The named plaintitfs will

Defendants have acted on grounds

adequate
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10N S

omimun \'

June 230 1994 Governor Sundquist’s predecessor in

&

McWherter, was informed by the United States Department ot Justice that it was commencing

an investigation into conditions at the Clover Bottom Developmental Center pursuant to the Civil

ct, 42 U.S.CL§ 1997 et seq. Thereafter, the Department

of Justice conducted several comprehensive tours of Clover Bottom. Greene Valley and Nat T.

ston with independent experts who observed conditions in all the residential units at cach

wes of the day. interviewed administrators, staff and residents, examined

Fdocuments pertaming to statfing, injury, abuse, mortality, medications,

istitutional policies and procedures. Based on that extensive investigation, the Department

conditions at Clover Bottom, Greene Valley and Nat T. Winston

H

ir constitutional rights to adequate medical care. reasonable safety,

&

by professional judgment. The Department of Justice tound conditions

s that sertously threaten the residents’ health and safety, including:

(@) A pattern of unacceptable injury, abuse and neglect.

Dangerously deficient medical care.

{c) An almost total lack of unit activities or stimulation of any kind.

atlure to provide a free appropriate public education for school-age residents

cquired by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1401 ¢l se



supported in the community.

108. The Department of fustice notified Go

remedial measures necessary to eliminate the violati

a detailed letters dated January 10, 1995,

o
o
o)

5, and May 12, 1995,
109, Defendant O. STEVEN ROTH 1s the Superintendent of the Clover Bottom
Developmental Center. He is responsible for the operation, administration, and supervision of

all aspects of the Clover Bottom Developmental Center. ncluding the custody, care and

treatment of all persons admitted there. He 1s responsible for insuring compliance by the statt

with the rules, regulations and procedures of the facility and of the Departiment of Finance and
Administration and with applicable state and federal law and regulations. He 1is further

responsible for insuring that incidents of alieged abuse of residents are reported to the
appropriate local or state authorities. He has oversight responsibility for the process by which
residents are discharged to community-based placements, nursing homes, or other placements.

110. Defendant ROBERT ERB 1s the Superintendent of the Greene Valley Developmental
Center. He is responsible for the operation, administration, and supervision of all aspects of the
Greene Valley Developmental Center, including the custody, care and treatment of all persons
admitted there. He is responsible for insuring compliance by the staff with the rules, regulations
and procedures of the facility and of the Department of Finance and Administration and with
applicable state and federal law and regulations. He is further responsible for insuring that
incidents of alleged abuse of residents are reported to the appropriate local or state authorities.

He has oversight responsibility for the process by which residents are discharged to community-
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and admi S?Q{'H‘xﬁ all mental retarc

were formerly subject to the jurisdiction of the Department of

ctardation prior to the issuance of Executive Order No. {0 on October 19, 1996 and No, @ on

114.The Tennessee DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (DH)

Tennessee authorized to administer the

YH s responsible (o review the needs and level of care required by

intermediate care f{acilities for the mentally retarded (ICFs/MR) in order

appropriate placements are made and to identify persons inappropriately

e community. DH also i1s responsible for ensuring that Medicaid-certifi

Winston and other

Tennessee. including Clover Bottom, Greene Valley

¥

Medicaid funds pursuant to T’

pe
-
-
_,,»

DLEY is the Commissioner of the Departm

1

She is the chief executive and administrative officer of the department, and 1s responsibie for

Greene Valley, Nat T. Winston and other

for state licensure and certificatio

the receipt

b
-




Executive Order Nos. 9 and 10 to the

all of the functions of the Divisien of MR are now the respx

i

and Administration. The Department of I
Health in the planning and establishment of Medical Assistance programs in the State of
Tennessee and is responsible for all financial matters related o Medical Assistance.

117. Defendant JOHN

fre—

ERGUSON is the Commissioner of the Department of Finance
and Administration. He is the chief executive and administrative officer of the department. He
is responsible for preparing the governor’s annual budget request 1o the state legislature, for

financial planning of Medical for review and audit of the

expenditure of funds by state agencies, for determining the amount of reserve allotments, and

for ensuring that program
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e appropriations. Betfore

other departments and officers of state government are allowed to enter into contracts, the

Commissioner must priation from which the contract

The Conmunisstoner 1s authorized to use the general reserve account i

for which other tunds are not avatlable. He is

. 9 and 10 for all operations and responsibilities

es of commun

r for Tenncare. He 1s
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t the beginning of this fiscal year.

P 3

Developmental Center was established in 1960, There are

ture to serve persons with severe and profound retardation, physical

H

vior and other severe disabilities in community-integrat

members were admitted to these developmentai centers alter their

in community-based programs, but were denied because the person had

P i
tamiites sopught sgrvi

SO

iion or a physical or behavioral disability.

embers came to the developmental centers after being disct

contractors. the community providers, routinely disch

sent behavioral difficulties.  Defendants fail to prevent

te ensure that group home residents are not discharged without adequate

members were placed at developmental centers because they are

> with defendants” system for ranking people with disabilities by their

[
it



services and close personal attention that s possible only

126, Prior to their placement at the defendant institutions.
informed of any feasible alternatives available under the Medicaid Waiver Program and ncither

are they given the choice of either institutional or home and community-based services.

127. Prejudice and stereotype continue to support the segregation of people

=
-
>
—
s
re
«
T
.
L

disabilities in state institutions, away from the rest of us.

The Harmful Conditions Imposed Upon Residents

128. Clover Bottom, Greene Valley and Nat T. Wilson are "total institutions.” where
recreational activities, social activities, and medical care are provided in the same {acility where

residents sleep and cat. The nstitutions” self-contained character inhibits meaningful community

involvement; many residents never leave the facilities or their respective living units at all.
129, At the defendant state mstitutions, plaintiffs spend their days waiting out the hours.

ill-fitting wheelchairs or carts. They are parked in dayrooms or ha

,
g
|
ey
™
o
e
g
-t
jab)
-
<2
o
=
o

1

attended, or are left alone in their rooms. Many plaintiffs languish in hospital beds or cribs,

—

with no stimulation except when they are changed or fed. Others are left in wheelchairs,
unattended for hours, with ne stimulation or human contact available to them. Interaction
between staff and residents is minimal.

130G, The physica

environment at the developmental centers was designed for mass

management and custodial care. Their architecture cannot be adapted to the habilitative needs

A
L
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g treatment

case, a 4d-year old woman died in October,

Bottom as a result of aspiration during a prolonged seizure. Lab tests repeatedly

1

substantially therapeutic levels of anti-setzure medication in her blood although her seizures were
icereasing. Despite numerous seizures, including one lasting ten minutes and described as

uncontrolled, this woman’s physician failed o pursue therapeutic levels of anti-seizure

I care is madequate. The institutions have no written guidelines

prescribin called. Residents who need immediate emergency medical care

are transported {rom their living untts to the medical building by non-medical personn

be taken by emergency medical technicians directly (o the

peer review and coordination of medical ca

noi-

Medical recordkeeping and data collection also are inadeqguate.

i

1 disarray: Important information is missing, progress notes and
ursory, documents are misfiled and physician notes are illegible. Data concerning the

Y

‘Liés\ ail\ 171

needs of residents is lacking. This absence of organized information 15 a seric

ey
-
o
el

abitity of staff to meet the critical health care needs of the residents. The




disorganization of medical care means that e

chronic medical conditions s pra

14

N

psychiatric consultation currently

completely inadequate to supervise an C recely

i

active medications. Failure adequately o monitor the eff

¢ts of medic

residents. It greatly enhances the risk that psyvcho-active medications may be used as chemical

restraints.

146, Staff members often present conthicting data about residents to the psychiatrist
which, in turn, may lead to mappropriate prescription of psycho-active medications.

147. No formal process exists for approval of medications that may be used for

behavioral control. The institutions’ procedures for tracking medication side-eftects 1s sumilarly

defici

]

his absence compounds the risk of harmful side-effects and jeopardizes the rights and
liberty of class members who are unnecessarily medicated. For example, 119 of the 150

residents of the Nat T. Wilson Developmental Center at the time of the Department of Justice

1995 were on neuroleptic medications for beha control and there 1s no evidence

that the staff is attempting 1o integrate behavioral and psvchopharmacological treatments.

148.The significant lapses in the medical services being provided to residents are

unacceptable. They compromise plaintiffs’ long-range outlook and create an unduc risk of

{':2.,
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Freguent Injurv an

ree developmental centers are seriously deficient. The rate
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164, lr*du;i\

help functioning.

161. Active treatment is the formal process of traimng, treatment and care that must be
delivered to each Medicaid-eligible resident of an Intermediate Care Facility for the Mentally
Retarded (ICF/MR). Active treatment 1s a protessionally designed, consistently and aggressively
implemented program of training, treatment, and other services to enable each ICF/MR resident
to function with the greatest self-determination and independence possible. 42 U.S.C. §
1396d(d); 42 C.F.R. § 483.440.

162. Active treatment requires the development and impiementation of an individualized
program of intervention that is based upon and accountable to a comprehensive assessment of
the individual needs of the resident and an individual program plan (IPP). Assigning an ICH/MR

resident to a generic activity (one that i1s generally available at a facility) 1s not active treatment
uniess the activity fulfills an individual goal or objective that, in turn, addresses an assessed need

of the individual resident. 42 C.F.R.
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163. No long-term view leading to greater mdependence, productivity and integration

euides the program planning process for residents of th

de \'QIODxHE’H{d! center

-

164, Individual program plans are meaningless as a guide to habilitation.  They

1

frequently ignore the residents’ individual necds. even when those needs are obvious and
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httle time outdoors and |

187. Habilitation

integration. The quality

opportunity for progress, participatic

safety, dignity and hope for imp

188. Many of the school
denied the opportunity to be cducated with child

educational needs could be met i regular

must attend "school” on campus simiply because tl

C H § Tiinvmation 3y e (1D “ve ool qoe children are
189, The Individualized Educauion Programs (IEPs) for school-age children are

for example, it is common
to find only two skills addressed in a student’s IEP over a three-vear period. Students do not
receive the related services such as physical therapy to which they are entitled as part of their

education due to the absence of interaction between therapy staff and educational staff,

atlure to provide active treatment at institutions,

or to implement pr I recommendations for placement elsewhere. are devastating to class

members. Their basic needs a > constricted, they

and to waik. They

iy Lo hive moa

Fatlure (¢ Provide Adequate Belinvior Management







continual behavior proolems resuiis i omore

incidence of abuse and myury to class members, or to ensure {reedom f{rom undue resiramt.

Fatlure to Provide Adeguate Physical Therapy and Physical Management

contractures or are non-ambulatory require physica

repositioning 1n order to prevent skin breakd

iees at Clover Bottom and Greene Valley are seriously

| professional staff are untrained in how to properly position,

ectively 1mplemented. Physical therapy staff s

ce, there is onlyv one physical therapist on stz

~a population of over 400 residents.

N 1

Class members are not positioned properly for sitting, eating or other activities

- The few staff actually engaged in physical therapy

ices such as lifting or moving residents by grabbing

48



and pulling on th

most basic prec

chair.

reciden

lL CeTres

204, Developme

positions or allow them fo s
may even exacerbate their deformities.

205. Therapeutic equipment helps to hold a developmentally disabled person’s body in
alignment, prevent the progression of deformity and allow the person to move as normally as
she can. With proper individualized therapeutic equipment, persons with severe developmental
disability, severe physical disabilities and deformities and severe and profound retardation can
achieve better alignment. better control of their muscles and himbs, and more normal and varied
movements. They can learn to sit in more upright positions that facilitate growth and lcarning
Residents with severe physical

210. Adeguate therapeutic equipment 1s lackin

1o

disabilities and deformities use ill-fitting wheelchairs that do not provide adequate support and
therefore cause progression of the person’s deformity and increase the risk of accidental mjury.
The deficiencies are so severe as to represent an active threat to class members’ health and
satety.

206. Accurate documentation of residents’ individual physical therapy status does not
exist. This makes it impossible to determine whether any intervention has been effective or
ffective and whether modifications need to be made in residents’ services. As a result, many

[

residents are continued for vears on the same programs despite lack of progress.

The developmental centers do not provide adequate assistive devices to enable
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fearning. and to express those ideas through communication.

Failure o Provide Adequate Vocational Training and Opportunities for Emplovment

Fs-,i

220, People with severe mtellectual disabilities and chalienging behavior can part

in productive work and work at real jobs in real workplaces.

yority of these

-
=
4
—
wed.

2210 With individualized systematic mstruction and practice,

-
)

residents have the capability to fearn and mamtain vocational skills.
hlsls) H

222 The opportunity to use and practice vocational skills in real work setungs provides

persons with severe disabilities not only with the benefits of earning wages and decreasing therr

dependence on public support, but also provides the benefits of participating in the community

valued role--worker--and developing refationships with co-workers, friends and other non-

pem

eople who are not paid to be with them. Opportunities to work in real job settings

for modeling and learning appropriate work habits and social behaviors trom non-disabled

peers--something that is not possible at the state developmental centers.

223, There has never been a systematic attempt to develop true vocational programs for

developmental center residents. The programs called "vocational” are not truly vocationa

A

because thev do not lcad to jobs, nor do they teach skills that can prepare people for jobs.

Violation of Class Members’ Basic Rights to Personat Choice, Dignity, Privacy,
Communication. Access to Personal Property, Freedom of Association and Participation in

N



Communify Activiiies

224. Residents are deprived

objects to be managed. Staff are allowed o
without consequence.

225. Residents are denied privacy

of adequate staff to assist residents with i

226. Class members are rout

~denied the basic nights of freedom of association and
communication, access to personal property, and participation in community activities.

227. Residents are demed the right to marry or (o enjoy intimate relationships.  The
policy and practice at the institutions 15 to separate residents who wish to engage in sexual
activity.

228. The developmental centers fail to monitor the residents’ personal property or to
protect it from theft

229, Class members are denied an adeguate opportunity to participate in community

activities. Some never leave the institution at all. Durmng the entire summer of 1994, for

example. 191 Clover Bottom residents did not go off-grounds for community or recreational

230. Class members are denied the right to attend religious services in the faith and

congregation of their choice. Most class members do not have the choice of attending services

=

off campus because they are not provided with Inn this, class member

-
i






ng meo

N

Failure to Provide Adeqguaie Discharge Planning

239, Post-discharge planning and follow-aleng services dequate. Residents arc

scharged from the istitution without adequate effort to assure that they

support in an alternative setting. As a result, residents who have been discharged are at risk of

and of readmission.
Middle Tennessee Oftice of Community Services,

i the

. often without proper planning and provision

needed to meet the person’s needs. Of the 73, 62 were discharged (o community

agencies or homes. Defendants themselves acknowledge that at least 16 of these persons are not

scharged 11 Clover Bottom residents to general nursing facilities

» are considered by professionals and federal regulators to

Liid

lv inappropriate setting for persons with developmental disabilities since they do not

vide the active treatment or services needed by persons with those disabilities. The staffing

alls far short of the staffing needed to provide adequate care

1

10ﬂiﬂc‘hdf disabilities.

joo ]
o
D
(t»

he eleven persons placed from Clover Bottom mto nursing tacilities n the

]
71}
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ghstruction, anocther of gastro-imntes

Winston

those five have returned.
Regression

244, As a result of the conditions set forth i paragraphs [28-243 above, residents have
regressed at all three developmental centers. Their limbs are twisted and deformed. their bodies
are bent and contorted, their bones have decalcified.  Class members who could walk without
support now need staff assistance, while others are confined in wheelchairs. Residents who could
sit up now lie in carts.

245. Class members who were in good health now have serious, even hife-threatening

health problems, including damaged lungs and difficulties with breathing and digestion. Class
members who could eat orally now are tube-fed.

246. From the numbing effect of idleness and the institutions™ barren environment, class
members have lost cognitive skills, the ability to relate to others and to respond to therr
environment. Class members have lost the ability to speak and communicate. From being
denied the opportunity to engage in the activities of daily living, class members have lost those

skills altogether.

The Inevitability of the Harms
Experienced by Plaintiffs at the Developmental Centers

247. Custodial facilities like the defendant institutions wnherently deny to plantifis t

experiences, interactions and opportunities for growth and development enjoyed by other

'
-
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institutions inhihits and siows orowt

tor persons with \zvn ficant disabili
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The state has a strone fiscal interest i continued Medicaid reimbursement for servic

developmental centers; that interest is jeopardized when survevors find violations of

conditions of participation.

....‘.‘

273. Defendants’ ICF/MR survey process 1s inadequate. DH survevors fail to ensure that
Medicaid-certified facilities in Tennessee, including the developmental centers and other

3

ICFs/MR, meet minimum standards for certification for the receipt of Medicaid fund

2]
C
il
Wl
&~

X
pet

o

to Title XIX of the Social Security Act. Under the Medicaid regulations, failure to meet
eight of the ICEF/MR conditions of participation requires that the facility be decertified.

However, DH surveyors ignore the myriad violations of the ICF/MR standards at the

.

developmental centers: they routinely certify the facilities even though deficiencies are so

massive that a reasonable survevor could not find the institutions 1n compiliance with the ICF/MR

-
o

conditions of p partici PLUIOY‘L

The Benefits to Plaintiffs
of Living in Normal, Integrated Comununity Settings

N

274. Professional judgment dictates that persons with significant disabilities be served in
life patterns that are integrated with and similar to those followed by other persons. The vast

]

majority of developmental disabilities professionals, public agencies and service providers now

reject the medical or deficit model and see their purpose as that of supporting people with
significant disability in normal, integrated res and work scttings.  Professionals now

fonsd
o
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1S a reflecting the value to people with

to be a member of a community one
hat ¢ nmn‘um},’: 2y cultural integration: to be a

----- yimmunity one must exhibit culturally "a‘tueé

)ies: 3y social integration: to be a munhc of a

ity one must enjoy reciprocal interpersonal relationships

with other community members; 4) self-determination: 10 he a

nit_\f one must be able to affirm one’s
ressions of personal independence and
ts and according to the standards of the

i
terence within the i%n

:()E‘;‘:i!‘xilﬂl!"\ﬂ "

nre
P

Defendants acknowledge that these principles "have moved over time from ideals promoted by

ant professional perspectives, to principies guiding the administration and

Today they are explicitly or implicitly recognized as

most state mental retardation/developmental  disabilitics

ealth and Mental Retardation. State

f Tennessee, Mental Retardation Services Master Plar

adequate support
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280, In the last twelve year
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to the quality of life of people with developmental disabilities when they move from farge
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congregate care settings to community living.
consistent. They demonstrate that people are better oft when they leave large congregate care

s for community hving in small, family-scale homes.

For example, in a five-ycar study commissioned by the Secretary of the U, §.

Depa

ment of Health and Human Services comparing the growth and development of persons

moved from Pennhurst to family-scale community living arrangements, researchers monitoring
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Fin skills and developmental growth while residents of the institution did

not. The federal government study concluded that persons who moved from Pennhurst to

ents were "better oft in every way." J. W, Conrov and V. J. Bradley, The

A

ennhurst Longitudinal Studv: A Report of Five Years of Research and Analysis, Temple

5). After the initial five-vear study was completed, the authors of

/

the Pennhurst Longitudinal Study continued to follow the 1700 members of the Pennhurst class
and found significant continued gains in growth and well-being.

Similarly, a systematic longitudinal study of the progress of 1 350 class members

66



in CARC v. Thorne, No. H-75-633¢

far moved from congregate carc Lo«

cvery way we know how to me

Thorne Longitudinal Study (1991)

283, These and other s

they move to the community have found:

y

(a) When former institutional residents are placed in the community, they make

highly significant gains n skills and development (adaptive behavior).

(by Former institutional residents who move to the community make

1.

greater gains in adaptive behavior than persons with comparable needs who remain at the

mstitution.

1

When people who are fabelled severely or profoundly retarded move mto

RS R i
2

family-like community settings, they show even greater gains, proportionally. in adaptive
behavior than persons labelled miidly and moderately retarded. No support exists for the

proposition that some people are "too low functioning” to succeed in the community.

() Although the mitial gains in adaptive behavior following class members

it in the community are generally the most dramatic, the gains do not fevel off
but continue. Former institutional residents continue to make significant gains in the

commun :i_\
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need for supervision and training, and then assigned to a facility of the corresponding "level.’
This system leads to the assignment of persons with severe disabilities and complex needs to the
developmental centers. For the most part, only persons with mild disabilities are supported in
typical homes, duplexes or apartments and in homes they choose themselves. This system 1s a

substantial departure from the professional consensus of the field. By continuing to operate this
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iminate intentionally against persons with severe and profound

intellectual disabilities. physical disabilities, challenging behavior, and serious health needs.
288. Defendants have failed to prevent their contractors (the community providers} from

discriminating against class members with severe disabilities. Defendants have failed to provide

a per diem basis for community services that is equitable in comparison to the

available to the institutions. The service system operated by defendants is characterized
by absence of planning and lack of coordination between the separate agencies that share
responsibility for serving persons with developmental disabilities.

282, The Tenncare Bureau and the Division of Mental Retardation have applied for and

received a waitver from the Health Care Financing Administration of the United States

h and Human Services as provided under Section 2176 of the Omnibus

6Y



to support a variety of home and community based serviees (o

those who are at risk of ICF/MR placement. To obtamn a
Care Financing Administration of the United States Department of |

that 1t will use the waiver to close ICF/MR beds or refrain from opening new ones.

provides the same federal match--66 cents for every 34 cents—that defendants receive for
services at the developmental centers. Lffective use of the Federal Medicaid Waiver Program
would enable Tennessee to provide integrated services to persons currently residing at all of the
state institutions at no greater expense to the state treasury.

290. Defendants have failed to use the waiver program to provide home and community-
based services for residents with the most signiticant disabilities. Defendants arbitrarily limit the
per diem rates paid to community providers under the waiver to $107, while the per diem at the
developmental centers is at feast $180. If community programs were funded at the same level
as the developmental centers, community providers could develop services for virtually
everyone. However, the $107 ceiling makes it difficult or impossible to develop community
services for at least half the present residents of the developmental center.

291. Defendants’ funding mechanisms arbitrarily exclude many developmental center

residents with significant physical disabilities from the community. Many class members with

hysical disabilities could live in their own homes with modest statf support if the proper

gt

adaptive equipment and modifications to assure accessibility were made availabie to them.
However, because defendants arbitrarily limit community contractors’ start-up funds to $4,000

per person, it is rarely possible to purchase the equipment and the home modifications necded

70



by those class members and thus they

292, Detendants do not plan

g

clients. Plaintiffs are placed at the

because that service

293, Defendants have chosen to a

developmental disabilities services to the institutions. This is a political, not a professional
decision. Class members are denied community services, not because of the professional
judgment that they should be institutionalized, but because the distribution of resources is skewed
toward the institutions.

294, In their actions and inactions recited above, defendants have failed to exercise
professional judgment. Defendants® actions and inactions are such a substantial departure from
professional judgment, standards and practice as to demonstrate that they actually did not base
their decisions on professional judgment. In their actions and inactions recited above. defendants
have acquiesced, with deliberate indifference, in a policy and practice of failing adequately to
train employees and in other policies, practices, customs and usages that are likely to result and
have resulted in the violation of class members’ constitutional rights.

295, Comcare, Inc., as guardian for class members with a duty to act in their best
interests, has consented to, and thereby aided and perpetuated, the continued harm of class
members’ placement at developmental centers and the inadequate habilitation they recerve there.

296. The actions and inactions of defendants that are recited above have resulted and will

continue to result in harm. injury, and regression.



Claims

Count I: Social Security Act

298. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs secured by Title XIX of the Social
Security Act, 42 U.S.C. Sections 1396, 1396a, 1396d(d), the regulations promulgated pursuant
thereto, 42 C.F.R. Sec. 435.1009; part 483, subpart D; and part 456, subparts E, F and I, and
by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by

(a) Failing to exercise adequate operating direction over the institutions as
required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.410(a)(1).

(b) Failing adequately to document plaintiffs’ and class members’ health care,
active treatment, and other information as required by 42 C.F.R. §§ 483.410(c)(1) and
483.440(c)(5)(iv).

(c) Failing to allow and encourage plaintiffs and the class to exercise their rights
as citizens, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.420(a)(3).

(c) Failing to enable plaintiffs and the class to communicate, associate and meet
privately with persons of their choice, and to participate in social, religious and community
group activities, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.420(a)(9) and (11).

(d) Failing to enable plaintiffs and the class to retain and use appropriate personal
possessions and clothing, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.420(a)(12).

(e) Failing to promote participation of plaintiffs’ and class members’ parents and
legal guardians in the process of providing active treatment to plaintiffs and class members, as
required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.420(c)(1).

(f) Failing to implement procedures that prohibit physical, verbal, sexual and
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psychological abuse or punishment, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.420(d)(1).

(g) Failing to provide an active treatment program that is integrated, coordinated
and monitored by a qualified mental retardation professional, as required by 42 C.F.R. §
483.430(a).

(h) Failing to provide sufﬁcient professional staff and adequate professional
program services to implement the active treatment program defined by each plaintiff and class
member’s individual program plan, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.430(b).

(i) Failing to provide appropriately qualified, trained and competent staff in
numbers that are sufficient to assist and supervise plaintiffs and the class in carrying out their
individual program plans, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.430(c),(d) and (e).

(j) Failing to provide plaintiffs and class members with a continuous, aggressively
and consistently implemented program of active treatment, consisting of needed interventions
and services in sufficient number and frequency to enable plaintiffs to attain as much self
determination, independence and optimal functional status as possible, as required by 42 C.F.R.
§ 483.440(a).

(1) Failing to provide plaintiffs and the class with adequate post-discharge plans,
as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.440(b).

(k) Failing to provide plaintiffs and the class with accurate, comprehensive
functional assessments identifying their developmental strengths, their developmental and
behavioral needs, and their need for services, without regard to the need for availability of
services, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.440(c)(3).

- (1) Failing to provide plaintiffs and the class with adequate individual program
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plans setting forth the specific objectives necessary to meet the client’s needs, as requfred by 42
C.F.R. § 483.440(c)(4).

(m) Failing to ensure that class members’ individual program plans identify the
mechanical supports needed to achieve proper body position, balance or alignment and specify
the reason for each support, the situations in which it is to be applied, and a schedule for its use,
as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.440(c)(6)(iv).

(n) Failing to ensure that class members’ individual program plans include
opportunities for client choice and self-management, as required by 42 C.F.R. §
483.440(c)(6)(vi).

(o) Failing to ensure that each plaintiff’s and class member’s individual program
plan is implemented by all staff who work with that person, as required by 42 C.F.R. §
483.440(d)(3).

(p) Failing to ensure that each plaintiff’s and class member’s éomprehensive
functional assessment is reviewed at least annually by the interdisciplinary team for relevancy
and updated as needed, and that person’s individual program plan revised as appropriate, as
required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.440(f)(2).

(q) Failing to ensure that interventions for managing challenging behavior of
plaintiffs and class members are employed with sufficient safeguards and supervision to protect
their safety, welfare and civil and human rights, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.450(b)(2).

(r) Failing to incorporate the use of systematic interventions to manage
inappropriate client behavior into class members’ individual program plans, as required by 42

C.F.R. § 483.450(b)(4).
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(s) Failing to assure that drugs for control of inappropriate behavior are approved
by the interdisciplinary team and used only as an integral part of an individual program plan that
is directed specifically toward the reduction of and eventual elimination of the behaviors for
which the drugs are employed, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.450(e)(2).

(t) Failing to provide medical services necessary to maintain an optimum level of
health for each individual and prevent disability, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.460(a).

(u) Failing to assure that health services are integrated into the class member’s
individual program plan, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 483.460(b).

(v) Failing to assure class members an adequate living environment, as required
by 42 C.F.R. §483.470.

(w) Failing to assure adequate food, ﬁutrition, and meal services, as required b.y
42 C.F.R. § 483.480.

(x) Failing to maintain the compliance of the developmental centers with the
conditions of participation for intermediate care facilities for persons with mental retardation.

(y) Failing to determine whether services available at the developmental centers
and other Title XIX facilities in which plaintiffs and class members reside are adequate to meet
their health, rehabilitative and social needs and to promote their maximum physical, mental and
psychosocial functioning, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 456.609(a).

(z) Failing to determine whether it is necessary and desirable for plaintiffs and
class members to remain at the developmental centers and other Title XIX facilities, as required
by 42 C.F.R. § 456.609(b).

(cc) Failing to review the appropriateness of plaintiffs’ and class members’
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continued placement at the developmental centers and other Title XIX facilities in which they
reside and failing to determine the feasibility of meeting their needs through alternative
noninstitutional s¢rvices, as required by 42 C.F.R. § 456.609(c).
| (aa) Failing to ensure adequate utilization review and discharge planning.
(ab) Failing properly to evaluate each plaintiff’s need for admission prior to

placement.

Count II: Rehabilitation Act

299. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs secured by Sections 100 and 504
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 720 and 794, and regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto, 45 C.F.R. parts 84 and 1361, by:

(a) Denying plaintiffs and class members the benefits of federally assisted services
and programs.

(b) Failing to provide plaintiffs and the class federally assisted services that are
as effective and meaningful as those delivered to other citizens and that are delivered in less
separate, more integrated settings.

(c) Denying plaintiffs and the class the benefits of federally assisted training,
habilitétion and other programs on the basis of the severity of their intellectual or other
disabilities.

(d) Segregating residents of the developmental centers on the basis of their
physical, behavioral or medical disabilities.

(e) Providing federally assisted services to persons with severe intellectual

disabilities and for people with physical or behavioral disabilities only in segregated settings.
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(f) Aiding and perpetuating discrimination against developmental center residents

in federally-funded programs.

Count III: Due Process Clause
300. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs secured by the Due Process Clause
of the United States Constitution, and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by:

(a) Subjecting plaintiffs and the class to harm and injury, including abuse, injuries
from accidents and neglect, regression, physical deterioration, deprivation of social relationships,
and the harms arising from segregation and confinement.

(b) Failing to provide adequate shelter, clothing, food and health care.

(c) Imposing unnecessary restraints, physical and chemical.

(d) Failing to provide minimally adequate habilitation and training.

(e) Failing to give consideration to the habilitative placement and other needs and
rights of each individual class member, treating him or her in accordance with his or her own
situation.

(f) Conclusively presuming that class members cannot benefit from particular
services or cannot live in non-institutional settings.

(g) Denying class members an adequate opportunity to be heard on the
appropriateness of their habilitative plans, programs and environment.

(h) Failing to provide a friend-advocate to assist each class member to exercise
his or her rights enumerated above.

(i) Failing, in the actions and inactions set forth above, to exercise true

professional judgment.
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Count 1V: First Amendment
301. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs and the class to the freedoms of

expression and association secured by the First Amendment, by:

(a) Preventing class members from associating and assembling with others of
their choice.

(b) Preventing class members from meeting and speaking privately with friends,
advocates and others of their choice.

(c) Preventing class members from communicating with others of their choice.

(d) Diminishing and failing to protect the capacity of class members to produce
ideas by thinking and learning, and to express those ideas through communication.

(e) Preventing and interfering with class members in the free exercise of religion.

Count V: Equal Protection Clause

302. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs and the class secured by the Equal
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by establishing, encouraging and otherwise
sanctioning in de jure fashion enactments, programs, policies and practices that have excluded,
separated and segregated persons labelled retarded from the rest of society without any rational
basis.

Count VI: Americans With Disabilities Act

303. Defendants have violated the rights of plaintiffs secured by Title II of the Americans
With Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12161-12165 and regulations promulgated pursuant
thereto, at 28 C.F.R. Part 35.

(a) Denying plaintiffs and class members the opportunity to participate in, and the

78



benefits of, public services and programs that are as effective and meaningful as those.delivered
to other citizens and that are delivered in less separate, more integrated settings.

(b) Failing to make reasonable modification in policies, practices and procedures
to enable class members to participate in integrated public services and programs.

(c) Imposing eligibility criteria that unnecessarily exclude certain classes of
individuals with disabilities and that prevent class members from fully and equally enjoying
public services, programs and activities.

(d) Failing to administer public services, programs and activities for class
members in the most integrated setting appropriate to their needs.

(e) Failing to furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services to enable class
members an equal opportunity to participate in, and enjoy the benefits of, public services,
programs and activities.

(f) Failing to remove architectural and communication barriers to enable class
members to participate in public services, programs and activities.

(g) Aiding and perpetuating discrimination against developmental center residents
in public services.

Relief
WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:
304. beclare that defendants’ actions and inactions, as described herein, violate plaintiffs’
rights under Title XIX of the Social Security Act and implementing federal regulations, the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and implementing federal regulations; the Due Process Clause of the

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; the Equal Protection Clause of the
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Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; and the First Amendment to the United
States Constitution.
305. After hearing, preliminarily and permanently enjoin the defendants:

(2) To arrange for the independent evaluation, by qualified professionals not
employed by the State of Tennessee, of the individual habilitation and treatment needs of each
class member, to determine whether adequate treatment consistent with constitutional standards
is being provided to the class member, and to determine whether the class member has been
injured as a result of constitutionally inadequate treatment at the developmnetal centers in the
past;

(b) to develop community living arrangements for all members of the plaintiff
class for whom such living arrangements are called for by the independent evaluation set fort‘h
in § (a) above, together with the community services necessary to provide class members with
minimally adequate habilitation, as defined in the independent evaluation and thereafter by an
individual person-centered planning process that is consistent with contemporary standards of
practice, until such time as the class member no longer is in need of community services.

(c) to provide services to class members in a manner which promotes their
independence, enhances their dignity, and is as consistent as possible with societal norms.

(d) to provide each plaintiff and member of the plaintiff class effective
developmental services in the most integrated setting appropriate to their needs;

(e) to make available with dispatch the necessary alternative residential facilities,
home services and vocational and day services in the community, including:

(i) an effective, independent, conflict-free system of case
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management and service coordination for class members;

(i1) identification of the support and services needed by class
members by a process of person-centered planning;

(ii1) service plans based on need rather than availability of
services reflecting the value of supporting the person with relationships,
productive work, participation in community life, and personal decision-making;

(iv) a system of personal advocacy and self-advocacy to
assist class members in asserting their rights;

(v) an effective, systematic resource development capability,
including but not limited to a program to ensure the availability of appropriate
community residential services; appropriate medical, dental, psychiatric,
therapeutic, and behavioral support services; appropriate community-integrated
employment services and other day activities in community-integrated settings;

(vi) an effective quality assurance system in the community
capable of detecting and remedying problems in class members’ programs in
systemic and coordinated fashion;

(vii) effective, mutually supportive management information
systems in which systems of reporting, oversight and communication of
information are organized and operational;

(viii) effective performance contracting systems.

(f) to provide class members and their families with an opportunity to be heard

by a neutral decision-maker on the substance of their program and placement;
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(g) to cease admitting persons to developmental centers or from transferring
present residents from the developmental centers unless such transfer is to the most integrated
community setting appropriate to their needs, and appropriate developmental services are
provided; to establish a system to prevent abuse and neglect of developmental center residents,
to thoroughly and ‘promptly investigate allegations of abuse and neglect and to establish
appropriate consequences for abuse and neglect of residents by staff;

(h) to hire sufficient numbers of professional and direct care staff at the
developmental centers, including sufficient numbers of qualified physicians, physical therapists,
occupational therapists, speech and language pathologists, psychologists, and aides;

(1) to provide adequate medical care to residents;

(3) to develop and deliver a professionally designed, consistently and aggressively
implemented program of training, treatment, and other services to each resident to enable him
or her function with the greatest self-determination and independence possible;

(k) to provide professionally designed therapeutic support services, including
adaptive equipment, positioning, mealtime programs, behavioral programs, and other assistance
necessary to protect each class member from harm and regression;

(1) to develop and provide adequate training programs for professional and direct
care staff at the developmental centers, and assure that all staff are able to demonstrate the skills
and competencies to provide active treatment to the class members they serve;

(m) to provide a safe environment for each class member at the developmental
centers;

(n) to allow class members to participate in community activities, and to allow
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reasonable access to the developmental centers and reasonable opportunities to communicate with
class members at the developmental centers, to People First of Tennessee, other advocates, and
members of religious and community organizations;
(o) to make available a friend-advocate to each plaintiff and member of the
plaintiff class to assist each in securing the substantive and procedural protections aforesaid;
(p) to submit to plaintiffs and to the Court for its approval a plan for
implementation of the aforesaid;
306. Award plaintiffs their costs and attorneys’ fees;

307. Grant such other relief as is appropriate.

83



Submitted for entry,

Edward G. Connette
Lesesne & Connette
1001 Elizabeth Avenue
Suite 1D

Charlotte, NC 28204
(704) 372-5700

Earle Schwarz

WARING COX -

1300 Morgan Keegan Tower
50 N. Front St.

Memphis, TN 38103-1190
(901) 543-8000

- )
! S T
{ P«2KJ . Ju\(_-e,w(("‘

Jack/W. Derryberry, R. #387Q,
Ward, Derryberry & Thompson
1720 Parkway Towers
404 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37219
(615) 244-0554

Judith A. Gran

Jessica R. Lowenthal

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER
OF PHILADELPHIA

125 South 9th Street, Suite 700

Philadelphia, PA 19107

(215) 627-7100

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

84



